IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DESERT AIRE WELLNESS, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

GB SCIENCES NEVADA, LLC

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

and

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH,
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Dec 13 2016 10:31 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO.: 70462

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: A-15-728448-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Richard H. Bryan, Nevada Bar No. 2029 Patrick J. Sheehan, Nevada Bar No. 3812 FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 1400 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant Desert Aire Wellness, LLC ("Desert Aire") appeals the April 28, 2016 order granting in part Respondent GB Sciences, LLC's ("GB Sciences") Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Desert Aire's Countermotion for Summary Judgment (4 JA846-55 ("the Order")¹.) The Notice of Entry of the Order occurred on April 28, 2016. (*Id.*) This Order constitutes a final judgment as to the claims asserted by GB Sciences against Desert Aire. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 3A(b)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 17 for four reasons. First, this matter qualifies for review by this Court under NRAP 17(a)(8) because it stems from conflicting interpretations of NRS Chapter 453A. Second, the Supreme Court retains jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(13), as it raises as a principal issues a matter of first impression for this Court involving the Nevada common law. Third, this appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(14) because it raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance. Finally, this matter is not one that would be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b).

-1-

¹ For the Court's ease of reference, citations to the Joint Appendix ("JA") cite to both volume and page number(s). Hence, "4 JA846-55" refers to volume 4 of the Joint Appendix at pages 846 through 855.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether, in granting summary judgment to GB Sciences Nevada, LLC, the district court ignored precedent from this Court holding that: (1) substantial compliance with statutes is sufficient; (2) under the doctrines of laches and estoppel, a license should not be revoked as a result of the government's mistake where the other party relied upon the State's actions in leading the person to believe that they were within their rights to proceed forward based upon the license or other governmental approval; and (3) the District Court should have construed the statute to avoid manifest injustice since (a) no one could have complied with the statute, and (b) the statute was clearly ambiguous since it stated the applicant had to submit its application on the State's prescribed form (and no additional information could be submitted) and the form did not include any spot for the allegedly missing information.
- 2. Whether district court misinterpreted the statutory scheme at issue and improperly inserted its own judgment for the Division of Public and Behavioral Health ("the Division"), thereby ignoring established Nevada Supreme Court case law regarding deference to an agency's interpretation of state law and acting in excess of its authority.
- 3. Whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment in this matter because GB Sciences is currently litigating against another dispensary, Nuleaf

Dispensary, for a registration certificate for this same dispensary location in the City of Las Vegas. *See Nuleaf Dispensary v. State of Nevada/GB Sciences v. State of Nevada*, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 69909. If GB Sciences is successful in that case, it will have no standing to pursue its litigation against Desert Aire.

I. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is an appeal from a decision by the district court ordering the Division of Public and Behavioral Health—the State subdivision responsible for regulating medical marijuana businesses—to revoke the medical marijuana registration certificate the Division issued to Desert Aire.

In May of 2014, the Division issued a comprehensive application designed to allow the agency to evaluate applicants' fitness to operate a medical marijuana establishment ("MME") and serve patients. The State's process is twofold: first provisional registration certificates are issued. *See* NAC § 453A.312. Then, once all local requirements are met, final permission to operate is granted through a final registration certificate. *See* NAC § 453A.316. For the first phase, the Division informed all applicants for registration certificates they had until August 18, 2014 to submit the entire application. (1 JA139 (application timeline).) Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453A.322, the Division further advised that each applicant needed to follow the application as the State had drafted it, and that it would not consider any additional materials. (1 JA140 (Division submission requirements specifying that

"[m]aterials not requested in the application process will not be reviewed or evaluated.").)

Desert Aire, a small, woman-owned company, successfully participated in both phases of the Division's application process. It is passionate about providing safe access to medical marijuana, including to underserved groups. Desert Aire submitted an application by the deadline on the Division's required form. Its application included everything required, including proof of meeting local zoning restrictions in the form of a letter from a licensed surveyor. The City of Las Vegas did not issue any type of approval to any applicant before the State application deadline.

The Division reviewed and ranked numerous comprehensive applications. Based on the substance of the applications (which were reviewed anonymously), the Division determined that Desert Aire was better qualified to serve medical marijuana patients than numerous other applicants, including GB Sciences. Thus, on November 3, 2014 it granted Desert Aire a provisional registration certificate, but denied GB Sciences a provisional registration certificate. (*See* 2 JA240-41 (November 3, 2014 application approval letter); *see also* 3 JA591 (application disapproval letter addressed to GB Sciences).) Desert Aire then proceeded towards serving patients. It obtained final approval from the City of Las Vegas,² spent over \$1 million building

² (2 JA249-50 (December 22, 2014 City of Las Vegas approval letter).)

out its facility (located on leased property), received final State approval in the form of a registration certificate (2 JA 299 (Registration Certificate)), spent sizable amounts of money and time getting the business open, opened the facility at the beginning of 2016, and has continued to spend significant time and money securing a patient base, developing compliant operating procedures, and training qualified medical marijuana agents. (4 JA822-23 (Declaration of Desert Aire member Brenda Gunsallas).) Desert Aire operates a fully compliant facility to this day.

Unable to get registration certificates from the Division on its merits because it did not perform well enough the Division's ranking process (which, again, was both substantive and anonymous), GB Sciences initiated a number of lawsuits. Relevant here, GB Sciences filed suit against Desert Aire and the State of Nevada contending that the Court should require the Division to revoke Desert Aire's registration certificate since its name was not included on an October 30, 2014 letter from the City of Las Vegas that provided the Division with a list of the MMEs the City had granted preliminary approval. (2 JA 252-80 (Complaint in Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-14-710597-C).)

After compiling an initial ranking of its preferred applicants (1 JA190-95), the City of Las Vegas subsequently formally approved MMEs for business licensing and zoning, including Desert Aire. (2 JA 297.) The State did not review this information (and was not required to do so) before issuing provisional registration certificates.

Yet, inventing a technical requirement to obtain a City license that did not exist at the time of application and inserting its own judgment in place of the Division's, the district court ruled that the State should not have granted provisional certificates to any entity not on the City's October 30, 2014 letter. (4 JA 853 ll. 21-23 (April 28, 2016 Summary Judgment Order).) Specifically, the district court found that pursuant to NRS 453A.322 (3)(a)(5), Desert Aire needed to include in its Application proof that it had been licensed by the City of Las Vegas or a letter from the City stating applicant's facility met the medical marijuana zoning restrictions. (4 JA 852 at ll.15-21.)

The State never requested or required such proof from any applicant, and there was no place in the application to include such information. (3 JA622 (State's March 3, 2016 Response to GB Science's Motion for Summary Judgment) at II. 16-26.) And, again, no entity could have submitted any such information from the City of Las Vegas before the application deadline. Nevertheless the district court—without allowing any discovery—granted summary judgment, ruling that the Division misapplied the law when it granted Desert Aire's provisional registration certificate back in 2014 and ordered the Division to revoke Desert Aire's registration certificate. (4 JA853-54.)

In issuing what amounts to the extreme remedy of a mandatory injunction without allowing Desert Aire to conduct discovery, the district court misunderstood

the statutory scheme at issue and inserted its own judgment for the Division's, in excess of its authority. The resulting order, if it is enforced, would lead to inequitable and absurd results that are odds with the underling policy and aim of Nevada's medical marijuana laws.

The district court also ignored precedent from this Court holding that: (1) substantial compliance with statutes is sufficient; (2) under the doctrines of laches and estoppel a license should not be revoked as a result of the government's mistake where the other party relied upon the State's actions in leading the person to believe that they were within their rights to proceed forward based upon the license or other governmental approval; and (3) the District Court should have construed the statute to avoid manifest injustice since (a) no one could have complied with the statute; and (b) the statute was ambiguous since it stated the applicant had to submit its application on the State's prescribed form.

NRS 453A.322 outlines the information that must be included in an application if the applicant wants a registration certificate and alpha numeric number. The statute begins by stating that the applicant, "must submit to the division an application on a form prescribed by the division." Subsection 453 A.322 (3)(a)(5) states, "if the city, town or county in which the proposed medical marijuana establishment will be located has enacted zoning restrictions, proof of licensure with the applicable local governmental authority or a letter from the applicable

governmental authority certifying that the proposed medical marijuana establishment is in compliance with those restrictions and satisfies all applicable building requirements."

Unfortunately, there were two problems with complying with this subsection. First, the State required all applicants to submit its application on its "prescribed" form as required by the statute. There was nothing on the form requesting the information referenced under subsection (3)(a)(5). Indeed, the form specified that no other information should be included or would be considered. It is undisputed that Desert Aire included all the information on the State's prescribed form, approximately 50 items.

Second, the subsection could not have been complied with by any applicant. Each application had to be filed by August 14, 2014. As of that time the City of Las Vegas had not issued any medical marijuana licenses nor had it issued any zoning approval letters. Instead, it made all of its applicants submit a letter from a licensed surveyor showing that it met the City's medical marijuana restrictions. As a result the best applicants could do was submit a letter from a licensed surveyor showing that its facility in fact met the Las Vegas specific medical marijuana zoning restrictions. Desert Aire in fact submitted such a letter. (4 JA811.) Thus, the purpose of the statute (the State making sure that each applicant's facility met the local governments' medical marijuana specific zoning restrictions) was met by Desert

Aire at all times.

In addition to failing to consider Desert Aire's substantial compliance with the Division's application process, the district court misinterpreted the statutory scheme set forth in NRS Chapter 453A, and failed to defer to the State's own interpretation of that scheme. This was error given substantial precedent from this Court stating that courts must defer to a state agency's interpretation and implementation of the laws under which they operate. *See, e.g., Folio v. Briggs*, 99 Nev. 30, 656 P.2d 842 (1983). Reversal of the district court's Order is also appropriate because GB Sciences lacks standing.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The State of Nevada's Enactment of Laws Designed to Allow for the Production, Cultivation, and Distribution of Medical Marijuana.

The underlying purpose of NRS Chapter 453A, the statutory scheme at issue in this case, is to provide a statewide system to register and regulate medical marijuana establishments to supply medical marijuana to registered patients. In 1998, Nevada voters approved a proposed amendment to the Nevada Constitution which allowed for the medicinal use of marijuana without criminal penalty via a ballot initiative. In 2000, voters approved the amendment. *See* Nev. Const. art. IV, § 38. In 2013, the Nevada legislature enacted SB 374, chapter 547, Statutes of Nevada at p. 3695, to establish a statutory scheme governing the cultivation, production, testing, and dispensing of medical marijuana. *See* NRS 453A.010 *et seq*.

(2013).

Throughout late 2013 and 2014, multiple workshops and committee meetings were held with various stakeholders and members of the public in an effort to create a system that balanced the needs of patients who would benefit from medical marijuana and the needs of the public for the safe and controlled production and distribution of medical marijuana. These efforts led to the regulatory framework for the cultivation, production, testing, and dispensing of marijuana codified within NAC 453A.010 *et seq*.

At the local level, local government entities established their own regulatory framework to implement Chapter 453A of the Nevada Revised Statutes and to establish criteria for the issuance of business licenses to cultivation, production, and testing facilities, as well as the issuance of licenses to medical marijuana dispensaries. Relevant here, in June of 2014, the City of Las Vegas adopted Chapter 6.95 of the Las Vegas Municipal Code. *See* Las Vegas, Nevada, Municipal Code § 6.95.010 *et seq*.

This regulatory scheme created by the Nevada Revised Statutes, Nevada Administrative Code, and Las Vegas City Code provides the relevant procedures and policies medical marijuana dispensaries and cultivation facilities are required follow to obtain registration certificates, special use permits, and business licenses, and also provides the procedures and policies the State and City of Las Vegas are

required to follow in issuing those licenses. Under the scheme, local governments must defer to the State's implementation and interpretation of the Nevada Revised Statutes and Nevada Administrative Code.³

B. The 2014 Application.

In May 2014, the Division issued a comprehensive application, designed to allow the agency to evaluate applicants' fitness to operate a medical marijuana establishment. (1 JA132-75 (application).) The State's process is twofold: first provisional certificates are issued. *See* NAC 453A.312. Then, once all local requirements are met, final permission to operate is granted through a final registration certificate. *See* NAC 453A.316. For the first phase, the Division informed all applicants for registration certificates they had until August 18, 2014 to submit the entire application. (1 JA139.)

Pursuant to NRS 453A.322, the Division further advised that each applicant needed to follow the application the State had drafted and that it would not consider any additional materials. (1 JA140.) Under NRS 453A.322, "[e]ach medical marijuana establishment must register with the Division. A person who wishes to operate a medical marijuana establishment must submit to the Division an application on a form prescribed by the Division." NRS 453A.322 (1) and (2). NAC

³ See Falcke v. Douglas Cty., 116 Nev. 583, 588, 3 P.3d 661, 664 (2000) ("Because counties obtain their authority from the legislature, county ordinances are subordinate to statutes if the two conflict.") (citation omitted).

453A.306 is entitled **Applications to operate establishment; Required provisions**. It states that the applicant must pay a one-time nonrefundable \$5,000.00 application fee and fill out an application on a form prescribed by the Division pursuant to Subsection II of NRS 453A.322, and then lists approximately 50 things required in the application.

Desert Aire submitted its application prior to the August 14, 2014 deadline. Desert Aire used the State's required form and submitted an application with each and every piece of required information, which again mirrored the requirements set forth in NAC 453A.306. Upon receipt of the medical marijuana applications on August 14, 2014, the State began the process of ranking the applicants in order. (3 JA622 (State's Response to GB Science's Motion for Summary Judgment).) The State did this without any consideration for whether the applicants had received local government approval. (3 JA623.)⁴

C. Desert Aire is Awarded a Provisional Registration Certificate by the Division and Obtains a Special Use Permit from the City.

Desert Aire was ranked within the top twelve applicants for those seeking a license in the City of Las Vegas, which had only 12 licenses available for

⁴ In its Response to GB Sciences' Motion for Summary Judgment, the State acknowledged that it "does not dispute that they did not make any changes based on the notification by the City of Las Vegas after the applications had been submitted and issued registrations to applicants who had been scored and ranked as the top twelve for the City of Las Vegas by the Division without consideration of local zoning approval." *Id.*

dispensaries. (3 JA622 (noting that Desert Aire was ranked tenth).) It received a letter from the State so stating on November 3, 2014. (2 JA240-41.) Thereafter, in December 2014, Desert Aire received a City of Las Vegas SUP approval (2 JA249-50), spent over a million dollars building out its facility, spent hundreds of hours getting the facility ready to open for business, marketed the facility, and opened for business at the beginning of 2016. (4 JA 891-92.)

At the time of the August 14, 2014 deadline, the City of Las Vegas had not issued any of its own medical marijuana Special Use Permits ("SUPs"). Instead, on October 30, 2014, the City of Las Vegas issued a list of its preferred applicants for medical marijuana facilities. (1 JA190-95.) The City of Las Vegas then issued SUPs to businesses, including Desert Aire Wellness. (2 JA249-50 (December 22, 2014 SUP approval letter).)

D. GB Sciences' Failed Application and Its Litigation Campaign.

GB Sciences apparently submitted its own application to the State prior to the August 14, 2014 deadline. (3 JA621.) That application could not have contained any proof that it had obtained local government approval from the City of Las Vegas either because (a) there was no section on the State's form allowing such information to be provided and again, the applicants had to submit their application on the State required form and not provide any additional information; and (b) because the City had not issued any SUP approvals or zoning letters. GB Sciences was not ranked

within the top twelve and thus did not get to open a medical marijuana facility. (3 JA621 (noting that GB Sciences was initially ranked thirteenth in the State application process); *see also* 3 JA591 (November 3, 2014 disapproval letter).)

GB Sciences then filed a lawsuit against multiple defendants at the end of 2014 alleging that it should somehow be moved up on the list because of supposed technicality under the law. (1 JA252-80.) Specifically, GB Sciences asserted that applicants above it—including Desert Aire—did not submit with their application information GB Sciences believed was required under NRS 453A.322. (See generally id.)

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