IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DESERT AIRE WELLNESS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

GB SCIENCES NEVADA, LLC,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

and

THE STATE OF NEVADA, DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Respondent.

GB SCIENCES NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Cross-Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPT. OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, DIV. OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH; DESERT AIRE WELLNESS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Cross-Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Jan 26 2017 01:16 p.m.
Supreme Court N2a 2017 24. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court did not err in revoking Desert Aire's PRC because the District Court had the authority to interpret and apply NRS § 453A as it related to Desert Aire and correctly did so in light of the fact that Desert Aire did not comply with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) prior to the issuance of the PRC. There is nothing ambiguous about the relevant statutes, and even if there was, Desert Aire did not substantially comply with them. Further, the District Court had full authority to put the parties in the position they should have been in if the law had been followed. Additionally, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to apply either equitable estoppel or laches because Desert Aire was aware of the fact that PRCs are always revocable and was included as a Defendant in the original NuLeaf Case. Finally, GB Sciences had standing to bring its underlying claims because it complied with the provisions of NRS §

453A.322(3)(a)(5) and the City of Las Vegas had provided the Division with proof of GB Sciences' compliance.

However, the District Court erred in refusing to award Desert Aire's revoked PRC to GB Sciences. Contrary to Desert Aire's arguments, the District Court had the authority to issue a mandatory injunction to award the revoked PRC to GB Sciences as next in line and the statute does not impose a hard deadline that could frustrate the District Court's ability to issue the mandatory injunction. Finally, the District Court's refusal to order the Division to issue Desert Aire's PRC to GB Sciences created a gross inconsistency in the application of the law which needs to be addressed and fixed.

VII.

LEGAL ARGUMENT - APPEAL

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

There are two standards of review applicable to the underlying appeal in chief.

1. <u>De Novo Review.</u>

Statutory interpretation is a question of law which this court will review *de novo*. <u>City of Henderson v. Kilgore</u>, 122 Nev. 331, 334, 131 P.3d 11, 13 (2006). The District Court's interpretation of NRS Chapter 453A, whether Desert Aire substantially complied, whether the statute was ambiguous, the

District Court's exercise of discretion and application of the statute to the facts in this case, and the issue of GB Science's standing to bring the underlying action are subject to *de novo* review.

2. Abuse of Discretion.

Although not declared by the Nevada Supreme Court, other courts hold that equitable determinations are reviewed by the appellate court under the abuse of discretion standard. *See* A. C. Aukerman Company v. R. I. Chaides Constr. Co., 960 F.2d 1020 (Fed. Cir. 1992)(*reviewing* laches and equitable estoppel); Dickson, Carlson & Campillo v. Pole, 99 Cal. Rptr. 2d 278 (Ct. App., 2nd Dist. 2000) (unclean hands). Assuming this standard applies in the State of Nevada, the District Court's issuance of a mandatory injunction revoking Desert Aire's PRC, and the District Court's refusal to apply equitable estoppel or laches is subject to this standard of review.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REVOKING DESERT AIRE'S PRC.

1. The District Court had the Authority to Interpret and Apply NRS § 453A.

Statutory interpretation is a question of law. <u>City of Henderson v.</u>

<u>Kilgore</u>, 122 Nev. 331, 334, 131 P.3d 11, 13 (2006). It is the District Court's responsibility to determine the law. *See* Baron v. District Court, 95 Nev. 646,

648, 600 P.2d 1192, 1193-94 (1979). Therefore, the District Court had the authority to interpret NRS Chapter 453A.

However, in its Opening Brief, Desert Aire complains that the District Court improperly substituted its judgment for that of the Division. *See* Opening Brief at 2 (Issue Presented for Appeal #2), at 6-7 (Summary of the Argument), and at 31-35 (Argument - "F. The District Court Misapprehended the Statutory Scheme and Erroneously Substituted the State's Judgment With Its Own").

However, Desert Aire never raised this argument to the District Court below. It is fundamental that the Nevada Supreme Court will not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981); Cummings v. City of Las Vegas Mun. Corp., 88 Nev. 479, 482, 499 P.2d 650, 652 (1972).

Moreover, Desert Aire essentially argues that the District Court should have abdicated its responsibility to determine the law, by giving unfettered deference to the Division with respect to all aspects of interpretation and implementation of NRS Chapter 453A. However, courts will not defer to the secretary of a division of the State of Nevada where the secretary's interpretation is unreasonable and conflicts with legislative intent. Nev. State Democratic Party v. Nev. Republican Party, 256 P.3d 1, 10 (Nev. 2011); State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000).

Desert Aire complains about the City "dictating" to the Division its "preferred" MME applicants. *See* Opening Brief at 34. However, the plain language of NRS Chapter 453A shows that the law was designed to be implemented as a balanced partnership between the Division and the local authorities.

This is evident in the clear language of the provision at issue, as well as the remainder of NRS Chapter 453A (physical address considerations (NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(2)); registration certificate provisional until license issued by local authority (NRS § 453A.326); location considered (NRS § 453A.328(5)); local inspections and record maintenance (NRS § 453A.330); revocation of PRC if failure to pay fee to local authority (NRS § 453A.340(4)); applicant must comply with local ordinances and rules of zoning and use (NRS § 453A.350(1)(b)); applicant can move locations if approved by local authorities (NRS § 453A.350(2)); applicant cannot supersede local fire safety rules (NRS § 453A.352(2)); etc.

In this case, the issuance of the PRC to Desert Aire, which failed to comply with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5), and the refusal to revoke the PRC and reissue it to GB Sciences (the next in line) was clearly unreasonable and in conflict with the legislative intent of the statute: to provide PRCs to the most qualified applicants who satisfied both the State and the local authorities' criteria. Thus, the District

Court was not obliged to defer to the Division when it issued a PRC in violation of NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5).

2. The District Court Correctly Interpreted and Applied NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5).

The District Court must interpret a statute in a reasonable manner, that is, "[t]he words of the statute should be construed in light of the policy and spirit of the law, and the interpretation made should avoid absurd results." <u>Desert Valley Water Co. v. State, Engineer</u>, 104 Nev. 718, 720, 766 P.2d 886, 886-87 (1988). In reviewing a statute, it "should be given [its] plain meaning and must be construed as a whole and not be read in a way that would render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory." <u>Mangarella v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 130, 133, 17 P.3d 989, 991 (2001) (internal quotation omitted). When the language of a statute is unambiguous, courts are not permitted to look beyond the statute itself when determining its meaning. <u>Erwin v. State of Nevada</u>, 111 Nev. 1535, 1538-39, 908 P.2d 1367, 1369 (1995).

When "the [L]egislature has failed to address a matter or . . . addressed it with imperfect clarity, [it becomes the responsibility of this court] to discern the law." <u>Baron</u>, 95 Nev. at 648, 600 P.2d at 1193-94. Similarly, when a statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable but inconsistent interpretation, the statute is ambiguous, and this court will resort to statutory interpretation in order to discern the intent of the Legislature. Gallagher v. City of Las Vegas, 114 Nev.

595, 599, 959 P.2d 519, 521 (1998). In this case, the applicable statutory provisions were clear and the District Court properly applied them in revoking Desert Aire's PRC.

a. The Statute Was Not Ambiguous.

Desert Aire argues that the statutes are ambiguous so Desert Aire should be rewarded for failing to strictly comply with them. *See* Opening Brief at 21-22. Specifically, Desert Aire argues that it submitted the official application form provided by the Division and the form did not include the requirements set forth in N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a)(5). *See* Opening Brief at 18.

However, Nevada Revised Statutes § 453A.322(3) makes it clear that the Division was authorized to issue a PRC if, and only if, in addition, the applicant *had complied* with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5). Filling out the form was actually only one of six requirements set forth in N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a). Specifically, NRS § 453A.322(3) states in pertinent part:

- 3. ... not later than 90 days after receiving an application..., the Division shall register the medical marijuana establishment and issue a medical marijuana establishment registration certificate and a random 20-digit alphanumeric identification number <u>if</u>:
- (a) The person who wishes to operate the proposed medical marijuana establishment *has submitted* to the Division <u>all</u> of the following:

* * *

(5) If the city, town or county in which the proposed medical marijuana establishment will be located has enacted zoning restrictions, proof of licensure with the applicable local governmental authority or a letter from the applicable local governmental authority certifying that the proposed

medical marijuana establishment is in compliance with those restrictions and satisfies all applicable building requirements; and . . .

NRS § 453A.322(3) (emphasis added). In other words, *before* the Division could issue a PRC, the applicant must have received the Local Approval and submitted proof to the Division.

There is no uncertainty in this language. The words "if" "has submitted... all of the following" leave no ambiguity as to whether or not the requirements set forth in NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) are discretionary or mandatory. They are mandatory.

b. <u>Desert Aire Failed to Satisfy N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) Prior to</u> the Issuance of the PRC.

In this case, Desert Aire was denied the Local Approval by the City on October 30, 2014 because it had voluntarily withdrawn its applications, and the City advised the Division of that fact with its October 30, 2014 letter. (App. Vol. III: JA578-83) Therefore, the plain language of the statute prohibited the Division from issuing a PRC to Desert Aire.

c. <u>Desert Aire Did Not Substantially Comply With The Statute.</u>

Desert Aire tries to excuse its failure to follow the law by arguing that it "substantially complied" with the MME laws. *See* Opening Brief at 16-21. However, substantial compliance means "actual compliance in respect to the substance essential to every reasonable objective of the statute." Costa v. Superior

Court, 39 Cal. Rptr. 3d 470 n.24 (Ct. App., 3rd Dist., 2006)(emphasis added). "Substantial compliance may be sufficient 'to avoid harsh, unfair or absurd consequences.' Under certain procedural statutes and rules, however, failure to strictly comply . . . can be fatal to a case." Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 407, 168 P.3d 712, 717 (2007) (quoting 3 Norman J. Singer, Statutes and Statutory Construction § 57:19, at 58 (6th ed. 2001)). To determine whether a statute and rule require strict compliance or substantial compliance, this court looks at the language used and policy and equity considerations. Id. at 406–07, 168 P.3d at 717.

Desert Aire argues that it substantially complied because it submitted the Division's application form, the application was accompanied by a survey which demonstrated that Desert Aire satisfied requirements of the statute which were "virtually the same" as the Local Approvals, and the form did not permit Desert Aire to provide any other information. *See* Opening Brief at 18-20.

However, Desert Aire did not substantially comply with the statute at issue. The purpose of the statute is not simply to get medical marijuana "out on the street" as fast as possible, as Desert Aire seems to suggest. The purpose of the statute, and its very detailed requirements, is also to ensure that only truly qualified establishments are registered by the Division and licensed by the local authorities to conduct such a business. This is also evident from the fact that relatively few

applicants are granted certificates each year (only twelve (12) for the City of Las Vegas).

Contrary to the arguments of Desert Aire, a letter from a surveyor containing a separation analysis is not "virtually the same" but is far from satisfying N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) or the purposes of the statute. See Opening Brief at 18-19. The purpose of the statute was to involve the local jurisdiction in the decision making process. Yet Desert Aire's argument eliminates that essential element, bypassing the local jurisdiction, and leaving the entire decision making process in the hands of the State, contrary to the clear intent of the law. Because N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) required applicants to provide the Division with proof of Local Approval, it was critically important to the State of Nevada that only those applicants with locations that the State knew were acceptable to local communities be permitted to operate an MME dispensary. Desert Aire could not satisfy this State concern because it failed to fulfill the requirements of N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) during the Division's 90-day application period.

What is more troubling in Desert Aire's case is the fact that before the 90-day application period had expired, the City of Las Vegas Planning Commission had voted 4-1 to *deny* Desert Aire's application for a special use permit and Desert Aire had *voluntarily withdrawn* its application. (App. Vol. III: JA570-76 and JA578-83) If Desert Aire's application and proposed business was so agreeable to

the local community, then it did not make sense why the Planning Commission would have voted to reject it or why Desert Aire would have withdrawn its application with the City. Clearly Desert Aire's actions speak louder than words regarding the suitability of its proposed MME dispensary at the expiration of the 90-day application period.

3. The District Court Had Authority to Issue a Mandatory Injunction.

The Nevada Supreme Court has specifically held that district courts have the authority to issue mandatory injunctions "to restore the status quo, to undo wrongful conditions." <u>Leonard v. Stoebling</u>, 102 Nev. 543, 728 P.2d 1358 (1986); <u>Memory Gardens of Las Vegas, Inc. v. Pet Ponderosa Memorial Gardens, Inc.</u>, 492 P.2d 123, 88 Nev. 1 (1972). One of the stated purposes of mandatory injunctions is to "compelling the undoing of acts that had been illegally done." <u>City of Reno v. Matley</u>, 378 P.2d 256, 79 Nev. 49 (1963). A mandatory injunction is an appropriate remedy, even where government entities are involved. <u>See Mirin v. Ace Cab Company, Inc.</u>, 85 Nev. 690, 462 P.2d 523 (1970).

In this case, there can be no dispute that NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) required the Division to only issue PRCs to those entities who had actually obtained the required Local Approval at the time of issuance of the PRC. Desert Aire did not have such Local Approval, and the Division had been notified of that fact, yet the

Division issued a PRC to Desert Aire, in direct violation of NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5).

Where an applicant is ineligible for a PRC, such as Desert Aire, the PRC should be revoked and granted to the "next in line". (App. Vol. III: JA454) This was GB Sciences (ranked #13 by the Division, for one of the 12 PRCs allocated to the City of Las Vegas). (App. Vol. III, JA592) Thus, the District Court correctly ordered that Desert Aire's PRC should be revoked.

Desert Aire argues that the District Court's mandatory injunction stripping Desert Aire of its PRC does not maintain the "status quo." *See* Opening Brief at 34. However, Desert Aire is mistaken. The mandatory injunction *restores* the status quo: that being no PRC issued to an applicant that did not qualify (Desert Aire) and undoes "acts that had been illegally done".

4. The District Court Did Not Err in Refusing to Apply Equitable Estoppel Against Either The Division or GB Sciences.

Desert Aire complains that the Court should ignore Desert Aire's failure to comply with the MME Laws of the State of Nevada because: (1) the Division approved its application for the PRC; (2) the provision at issue (N.R.S. § 453A.322(3)(a)(5)) was not included in the PRC application form, and (3) the principals of Desert Aire "spent three years of their life without pay, spent millions of dollars, went through an arduous licensing and building inspection process,

marketed and then opened the facility, and built up a large patient base." See Opening Brief at 25-29.

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